No. 48390-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW AHRENS,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jason J. Hoeft, WSBA # 39547 Emery Reddy, PLLC 600 Stewart Street, Suite 1100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 442-9106 Attorney for Appellant Andrew Ahrens

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

(1) Assignment of Error

On November 20, 2015, the trial court erred in entering the Order Granting the Department of Labor and Industries' (the "Department") Motion for Summary Judgment fail when it went beyond its function of determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and instead resolved the underlying factual issue.

(2) <u>Issues Relating to Assignment of Error</u>

Whether there a genuine issue of material fact as to the sufficiency of the Claimant's August 27, 2013, protest when the factual record demonstrates a reasonable hypothesis that two different individuals believed the August 27, 2013, protest, was sufficient to place the Department on notice of need for action?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 1, 2013, the Department issued an order ending time-loss compensation. CP 284. On July 2, 2013, the Department issued a Notice of Decision canceling the May 28, 2013, order. CP 286. On July 3, 2013, the Department issued a Notice of Decision correcting a March 18, 2013 order and determining the Department was not responsible for the Plaintiff's

lumbar sprain. CP 288. On July 5, 2013, the Department issued its fourth order in five days setting Mr. Ahrens' wage. CP 290.

On August 27, 2013, the Plaintiff submitted a Protest and Request for Reconsideration. CP 293. On October 15, 2013, the Department received a letter from Patrick B. Reddy requesting the Department take action on the August 27, 2013, Protest. CP 299. Specifically, the letter requested the Department reconsider the July 5, 2013, wage order as previously requested. *Id*.

On January 6, 2014, the Department corrected and canceled the July 3, 2013, order setting a new wage. CP 295.

Following the November 20, 2015, hearing, Judge Jerry T. Costello granted the Department's Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 358-359.

C. ARGUMENT

The standard of review orders of summary judgment dismissal is de novo review, and the Court of Appeals engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Korslund v. DynCorp Tri–Cities Servs., Inc.*, 156 Wash.2d 168, 177, 125 P.3d 119 (2005); RAP 9.12.

A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the case depends. *Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. Of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). If reasonable minds could reach two different conclusions from the evidence, then summary judgment is

inappropriate. *DePhillips v. Zolt Constr. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 26, 959 P.2d 1104 (1998).

The evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence shall be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Roger Crane & Associates, Inc. v. Felice*, 74 Wash. App. 875 P.2d 705 (1994). Any doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact should be resolved against the moving party, and in favor of allowing the case to go to trial. *Ely v. Hall's Motor Transit Co.*, 590 F.2d 62 (3d Cir. 1978).

Here, the factual record indicates that two different individuals believed the August 27, 2013, protest, was sufficient to place the Department on notice of need for action. Thus, there is a genuine issue of material fact at issue and the Department's Motion should have been denied.

RCW 51.52.050 does not require strict compliance in regard to the form or content of a "protest" or "request for reconsideration." Any written document will suffice as a protest or request for reconsideration if it is reasonably calculated to put the Department on notice that the party is requesting action inconsistent with the adverse Department decision, and it is sent to the Department within 60 days of the original order. See *In re Mike Lambert*, BIIA Dec., 91 0107 (1991). *Pearson v. State Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 164 Wn. App. 426, 262 P.3d 837 (2011), as modified (Nov. 28, 2011) (appeal must be taken within 60 days of DLI order).

There are no technical requirements for a protest, it merely must be:

1) in writing, 2) sent within 60 days of the Order, and 3) sufficient to place the Department on notice that action should be taken.

Here, there is no dispute as to the first two elements of a valid protest. The August 27, 2013, protest was: 1) written and 2) sent within 60 days of the July 3, 2013, order.

The final element is a question of fact and is a material fact in dispute: was the August 27, 2013, protest sufficient to put the Department on notice. As discussed below, the facts reveal that reasonable persons could <u>and did</u> reach different conclusions. Therefore, the Department's Motion should of been denied.

First, the October 15, 2013, letter from Patrick B. Reddy, asks the Department to take action on the Protest previously sent and not yet acted upon. CP 299. This letter was sent due to the fact that Mr. Reddy believed the Protest was sufficient enough to warrant Department action, specifically in regard to the July 5, 2013, order. CP 297.

Additionally, the Department's own actions indicate the protest was sufficient to put it on notice that action was requested. On January 6, 2014, the Department corrected and canceled the July 3, 2013, order, and set a new wage for Mr. Ahrens correcting its previous mistake. CP 295. The Department also reconsidered other orders within the same time period,

calling into question the Department's current claim that it lacked notice of the request for reconsideration.

This contention is especially concerning in a situation where the Department's initial action caused the confusion in the first place—the Department issued a series of orders on different, consecutive days, and pertaining to broad questions involving Mr. Ahrens' entitlement to benefits. Where such confusion and perhaps unnecessary duplication of orders takes place, it is sufficient that the Department received written notice, within 60 days, that a "protest and request for reconsideration" must be acted upon. The claim manager merely needed to address the orders that had been sent within 60 days of the protest, or ask for clarification. Without any request for clarification, on his own initiative, the Plaintiff sent a clarifying letter and then the Department reconsidered.

If all proper inferences were given to the nonmoving Mr. Ahrens, it is clear that reasonable minds can and did reach different conclusions, and thus summary judgment must fail. The trial court erred in its decision on summary judgment when it went beyond its function of determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists, and instead resolved the factual issue.

In ruling on motion for summary judgment, court's function is not to resolve any existing factual issue, but to determine whether such genuine issue exists. *Jolly v. Fossum*, 59 Wash.2d 20, 365 P.2d 780 (1961); *Hughes v. Chehalis School Dist.*, 61 Wash.2d 222, 377 P.2d 642 (1962).

It is certainly improper for the court to grant summary judgment based merely on belief that the moving party is likely to prevail at trial. *Meadows v. Grant's Auto Bokers, Inc.*, 71 Wash.2d 874, 882, 431 P.2d 216 (1967).

The summary judgment procedure should not be used to try an issue of fact. *Thoma v. C.J. Montag & Sons, Inc.*, 54 Wn.2d 20, 26, 337 P.2d 1052 (1959). Summary judgment must be denied if the record shows even a reasonable hypothesis that would create a genuine issue of material fact. *Mostrom v. Pettibon*, 25 Wash.App 158, 162, 607 P.2d 864 (1980).

The trial court excluded certain evidence that showed a hypothesis that Department believed it had been put on notice to take action, specifically the January 6, 2014, order. CP 295. The order stands for the hypothesis that an actor believed they were put on notice and thus took action. Indeed, the trial judge believed he "must" exclude all evidence except for the letter itself. RP 11, 14-15. Then after excluding evidence, the trial court went on to answer the specific question of whether the August 27, 2013, protest was "reasonably calculated to put the Department on notice." RP 11, 19-20.

Mr. Ahrens deserves his opportunity to present this evidence to a trier of fact. This is especially true, not only because of the policy reasons that support Mr. Ahrens as the non-moving party, but because this matter is within context of Title 51.

Title 51 was the result of a compromise between employers and workers. *Dennis v. Department of Labor and Industries of State of Wash.*, 109 Wash.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). In exchange for limited liability, the employer would pay on some claims for which there had been no common law liability. *Id.* The worker gave up common law remedies and would receive less, in most cases, than he would have received had he won in court in a civil action, and in exchange would be sure of receiving that lesser amount without having to fight as hard for it. *Id.*

RCW 51.04.010 embodies these principles, and declares, among other things, that "sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents is hereby provided [by the Act] regardless of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other remedy." *Id.* To this end, the guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker. *Id.* citing multiple sources.

D. CONCLUSION

When all evidence is taken into account, it is clear that an issue of material fact exists based on the actors at the time the protest was filed. There Departments' Motion for Summary Judgment should have been denied. The court's November 20, 2015, Order should be reversed, and this case remanded to be heard on the merits.