NO. 48390-4-II

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

ANDREW AHRENS,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

KATY J. DIXON  
Assistant Attorney General  
WSBA No. 43469  
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 389-2770  
Office ID. No. 91018

**

## I. INTRODUCTION

To effectively administer workers' compensation claims, the Department of Labor and Industries relies on parties to articulate basic disagreement with orders within the time allowed by law before the Department will revisit its decisions. In July 2013, the Department issued an order finding that Andrew Ahrens's industrial injury did not cause a low back condition. Two days later, it issued an order establishing Ahrens's wages at the time of his injury for the purposes of determining wage replacement benefits. Within the appeal period, Ahrens requested reconsideration of the low back order, providing reasons why the industrial injury caused the back condition and including a copy of the low back order.

The Department, however, received no written communication from Ahrens within the appeal period that expressed disagreement with how the Department calculated his wages. Because Ahrens provided nothing that would put the Department on notice that he disagreed with the wage order, that order became a final and binding determination once the appeal period expired. This Court should affirm.

//

//

## II. ISSUE

For a party to contest a Department order, that party must timely request reconsideration in writing by providing information that is reasonably calculated to put the Department on notice that the party disagrees with the challenged order. Ahrens's August 27, 2013 letter disagreed with an order about his low back. Did this low back letter also express disagreement with a separate wage rate order?

## III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. Statutory Background

In workers' compensation cases, the Department issues orders adjudicating the claims. A party may request reconsideration of such an order in writing by the Department. RCW 51.52.050. This is commonly called a "protest" or a "protest and request for reconsideration." A party has 60 days from the day the Department communicated the order to either protest the order to the Department or to appeal the order to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. RCW 51.52.050, .060. If a party fails to timely contest the order, it becomes final and binds the parties. RCW 51.52.060. This is true even if the order contains an error. *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 538, 886 P.2d 189 (1994).

### B. The Department Allowed Ahrens's Industrial Insurance Claim and Issued an Order Setting His Wages at the Time of Injury

Ahrens sustained a work injury on August 16, 2012, and the Department allowed his claim. Clerk's Papers (CP) 80. On July 3, 2013,

the Department issued an order finding that Ahrens did not sustain a lumbar—low back—strain as a result of his industrial injury. CP 130. On July 5, 2013, the Department issued an order setting Ahrens’s wages at the time of his injury. CP 132.<sup>1</sup> This was done in order to determine the amount of wage replacement benefits (*i.e.*, time loss compensation), he should receive. RCW 51.08.178.

**C. In August 2013, Ahrens Protested the Department’s Decision That the Industrial Injury Did Not Cause a Low Back Strain**

On August 27, 2013, Ahrens submitted a “protest and request for reconsideration,” asking the Department to find that the low back strain was causally related to his workplace injury. CP 135. Attaching the July 3 low back order, the letter identified it as the subject of the protest:

I am writing on behalf of the Claimant, Mr. Andrew Ahrens, to protest and request reconsideration of the Department of Labor and Industries Notice of Decision dated July 3, 2013, and which was received by the Claimant on July 8, 2013 (the “Order”).

CP 135.<sup>2</sup>

The letter argued that the July 3, 2013 low back order was incorrect “because Mr. Ahren’s lumbar sprain was caused by his industrial injury.” CP 135. It alleged that the low back strain occurred while Ahrens participated in physical therapy for his workplace injury. CP 135. It noted

---

<sup>1</sup> In early July 2013, the Department also issued an order ending time loss compensation benefits (July 1) and canceling an earlier order (July 2).

<sup>2</sup> The letter is attached in Appendix A.



that an independent medical examination determined that the strain was causally related to the workplace injury. CP 135. The letter argued that Ahrens did not have back pain before the industrial injury. The letter specifically requested that the Department reverse the low back order and “issue a new order accepting Mr. Ahrens’ lumbar strain under his claim.” CP 135.

**D. In October 2013, Ahrens Requested Reconsideration of the Order Setting His Wages**

On October 15, 2013—more than 60 days after the wage order—Ahrens submitted a new protest and request for reconsideration, asking the Department to reconsider the July 5 wage order. CP 146. The Department issued a revised wage order on January 6, 2014. CP 164. Eight days later, the Department voided the revised wage order, finding that the Department did not have authority to issue it. CP 167. The Department issued an order finding that the July 5 wage order could not be reconsidered because the Department had not received a protest within 60 days. CP 169. The Department also assessed an overpayment of time compensation benefits according to the final wage rate order. CP 171. Ahrens appealed both the “not-timely” order and the overpayment order to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. CP 173-75.

**E. Chronological List of Orders**

<b>Relevant Orders</b>	<b>Date Issued</b>	<b>60 days</b>	<b>Date Protested</b>
Ending time loss compensation (wage replacement benefits)	7/1/13	8/30/13	Not protested or appealed
Canceling 5/28/13 order	7/2/13	8/31/13	Not protested or appealed
Denying responsibility for low back strain	7/3/13	9/1/13	8/27/13
Setting wage rate	7/5/13	9/3/2013	<b>10/15/13 (untimely)</b>
Holding 7/3/13 order in abeyance	9/10/13	11/9/13	Not protested or appealed
Assessing overpayment of time loss benefits	10/1/13	11/30/13	10/15/13
Cannot reconsider 7/5/13 order because no timely protest was received	10/18/13	12/17/13	12/2/13
Correcting wage rate order	1/6/14	3/7/14	Not protested or appealed
Withdrawing 1/6/14 order	1/14/14	3/15/14	Not protested or appealed
Cannot reconsider 7/5/13 order because no timely protest was received	1/15/14	3/16/14	3/14/14 (appealed to Board)
Assessing overpayment of time loss benefits	1/16/14	3/17/14	3/7/14
Affirming 1/16/14 order	6/6/14	8/5/14	6/11/14 (appealed to Board)

**F. The Board and Superior Court Agreed With the Department That the August Letter Did Not Address the Wage Order and the October Letter Was Not Timely**

The Board affirmed the Department on summary judgment, determining that Ahrens's August letter did not put the Department on notice that Ahrens disagreed with the wage order, and that his October

letter was not within the 60 day appeal window. CP 18. The Board remanded the overpayment order to the Department to correct an error in a date, but otherwise affirmed. CP 19. The superior court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment, ruling that no genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether Ahrens timely appealed the wage order and that the Board's order was correct. CP 358-59. Ahrens appeals.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the superior court's decision in a workers' compensation case under the ordinary standard of civil review. RCW 51.52.140; *Malang v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 139 Wn. App. 677, 683, 162 P.3d 450 (2007). The appellate court does not review the Board's decision, nor apply the Administrative Procedure Act. *Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 174, 179-81, 210 P.3d 355 (2009). On review of a summary judgment order, the appellate court's inquiry is the same as the superior court's. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 353, 962 P.2d 844 (1998).

The court grants summary judgment if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). Courts "examine the pleadings to determine if any admissible proof and evidence exists that will create a genuine issue of material fact." *Geppert v. State*, 31 Wn. App. 33, 38-39, 639 P.2d 791 (1982). A material

fact is one on which the outcome of the litigation depends. *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). Courts review the facts in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 91, 103, 690 P.2d 1163 (1989). But to defeat summary judgment, a party may not rely upon mere conjecture or speculation. *Garcia v. Dep't of Transp.*, 161 Wn. App. 1, 15, 270 P.3d 599 (2011).

## V. ARGUMENT

The only letter Ahrens filed within 60 days of the order setting his wages exclusively argued that the industrial injury caused his low back condition. It made no reference to his wages. Instead he submitted the first written communication that mentioned his wages after the 60 day appeal period had run. Since Ahrens failed to timely protest the wage order, the wage order became final and binding. This Court should affirm the Department's order rejecting Ahrens's late protest.

### A. **The August Protest Letter Did Not Put the Department on Notice That Ahrens Disagreed with the Wage Order**

Orders become final 60 days after the Department communicates them to a party unless a party files a written request for reconsideration with the Department or appeals to the Board. RCW 51.52.050, .060.

Ahrens did not submit a written document that mentioned the wage order within the order's 60 day appeal window. Yet Ahrens argues that the

Department should have construed his August letter addressing a contended low back condition as putting the Department on notice that he also challenged the wage order. Ahrens Br. at 3. But nothing in this letter disputed or even referenced Ahrens's wages or how the Department had calculated them.

Although it may take different forms, a request for reconsideration occurs only when "the Department receives a written document, filed within the time allowed by law, which is reasonably calculated to put the Department on notice that the party submitting the document is requesting action inconsistent with the decision of the Department." *In re Mike Lambert*, No. 91 0107, 1991 WL 11008451, \*1 (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. January 29, 1991); see *In re Misael Lopez Hernandez*, No. 15 16634, 2016 WL 2764168 (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. April 28, 2016); *In re Cortley Everett*, No. 15 15225, 2016 WL 2764166 (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. April 7, 2016).<sup>3</sup> In the significant decision *In re Lorraine Williams*, the Board found that a claimant's letter protesting a closing order was not a valid protest of an overpayment order where it only sought review of the lack of permanent partial disability and contained no statement regarding time loss

---

<sup>3</sup> No appellate case has opined on what constitutes a valid protest, but workers' compensation practitioners widely use the Board's test and the parties agree here that the Court should apply it. See Ahrens Br. at 3. Courts defer to the Board's interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act. *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 138, 814 P.2d 629 (1991).

compensation or an overpayment. *In re Lorraine Williams*, No. 07 24841, 2009 WL 2781034, \*2 (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. May 1, 2009). Similarly, a letter stating that “Claimant ... is protesting the closure of this claim. More information will be forthcoming as soon as possible” was not a valid protest of a segregation order because it did not mention the date of the order nor state disagreement with denial of the segregated condition. *In re Deborah Gottlieb*, No. 12 15613, 2013 WL 2476955, \*3 (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. February 25, 2013). In Ahrens’s case, although the August letter was a written document and filed within the time allowed by law, it was not reasonably calculated to put the Department on notice that Ahrens disagreed with how the Department calculated his wages.

The August letter did not reference the July 5 wage order. It made no reference to Ahrens’s wages; nor was a copy of the wage order attached to the protest. Nothing in the August 27, 2013 letter reasonably put the Department on notice that Ahrens challenged the decision setting his wage rate. The letter only addressed, and requested action inconsistent with, the Department’s decision to find that the industrial injury did not cause any low back strain. This Court should agree with the Department, Board, and superior court that Ahrens’s August letter did not appeal the wage order. And the protest filed October 15 was too late: any protest of

the July 5 wage order was due 60 days after the order was communicated—approximately by September 3.

**B. Ahrens’s Theories Lack Merit: the Meaning of a Protest Is Not a Question of Fact and the Subjective Impressions of the Parties Are Irrelevant**

The Legislature requires a protest to be in writing, showing that the Legislature wants the Department to reconsider matters based on the written document. RCW 51.52.050. What a written document says is a question of law, not fact. Although Ahrens argues that it is a question of fact to determine the meaning of a protest—he cites no authority for this proposition. It is his responsibility to do so. RAP 10.3(6). A court may generally assume that where a party has cited no authority, counsel has found none after a diligent search. *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962). In fact, when determining the meaning of similar things, the court has done so as a matter of law. *E.g.*, *Columbia Physical Therapy, Inc., P.S. v. Benton Franklin Orthopedic Associates, P.L.L.C.*, 168 Wn.2d 421, 429, 228 P.3d 1260 (2010) (meaning of orders determined de novo).

In considering the protest as a matter of law, the only relevant information for the court to consider is the document itself and the Department order that it allegedly protested. Ahrens argues that there is a material issue of fact as to whether the August letter was a valid protest

because, allegedly, “two different individuals” believed that the letter put the Department on notice that Ahrens requested action on the wage order. Ahrens Br. at 3. The two individuals are, apparently, Ahrens’s attorney Patrick Reddy, who sent the October letter inquiring about the wage order, and the Department claims manager who issued an amended wage order in January 2014, before vacating the same order a little more than a week later. Ahrens Br. at 4. But speculation on the subjective impressions of these two individuals is irrelevant in determining whether Ahrens submitted a timely written document articulating his disagreement with the wage order. *See Hendrickson v. Tender Care Animal Hosp. Corp.*, 176 Wn. App. 757, 762, 312 P.3d 52 (2013) (to defend against summary judgment, party may not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain).

The Department administers the Industrial Insurance Act by issuing orders; a party contests those orders by written documents. RCW 51.52.050. By providing for a system of contesting orders in writing, the Legislature provided for an objective process. Ahrens agrees that the *Lambert* test applies: it provides for an objective test—that of reasonableness. *See Ahrens Br. at 3; Lambert*, 1991 WL 11008451, \*1. Under *Lambert*, the question is whether the written communication was “reasonably calculated” to put the Department on notice that Ahrens



disputed the order, not what the parties thought subjectively about the letter. *Lambert*, 1991 WL 11008451, \*1.

The court has already rejected a claimant's attempt to introduce the Department's deliberative process as evidence. In *McDonald v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 104 Wn. App. 617, 623, 17 P.3d 1195 (2001), the court held that "the processes L&I employed in reaching its ultimate decision denying the application to reopen are irrelevant." There, on appeal of a Department's denial of a request to reopen a claim, the court rejected the worker's contention that the Department's initial decision to reopen his claim should be treated as an admission of a party opponent. *Id.* The only question before the court was the underlying legal question of whether the injury proximately caused the worsening of his medical conditions, so the Department's thought process was irrelevant. *Id.*; see *Nationscapital Mortg. Corp. v. State Dep't of Fin. Inst.*, 133 Wn. App. 723, 762-63, 137 P.3d 78 (2006) ("Courts should not probe the mental processes of administrative officials in making a decision.").

Here, the deliberative processes of the Department, including the subjective impressions of the claims manager in issuing an amended wage order, were irrelevant in determining whether there was a timely protest in the first place. As the *McDonald* court held, when the Department has reason to reconsider an aspect of claim adjudication, it is permitted to

issue a new order. The earlier order is then not an admission, but a nullity. See *McDonald*, 104 Wn. App. at 623.<sup>4</sup>

Ahrens is also wrong that the Department should consider the subjective intent of the person (here Ahrens's attorney, Reddy). Ahrens's intent is expressed by the written document. RCW 51.52.050. Likewise, Ahrens is wrong in suggesting that the Department should have assumed that the low back protest addressed all orders issued within 60 days of its August protest letter or else affirmatively asked for clarification. Ahrens Br. at 5. "Neither the Department nor employers can be held to a standard that requires that any written communication received within 60 days of a final order must be determined to be a protest of that final order." *In re Robert Burton, Jr.*, No. 01 13817, 2002 WL 1885019, \*2. (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. November 5, 1998). This would create an unreasonable burden on Department personnel. Claims managers would have to revisit each Department determination in response to any communication from a party, even when that communication fails to even mention the subject matter of the order. Ahrens Br. at 5. Here the worker was represented by counsel and the protest letter received by the Department ably articulated the basis of Ahrens's disagreement with the Department decision to find that the industrial injury did not cause any low back strain. The Department had no

---

<sup>4</sup> In any event, the claims manager appropriately vacated the January 2014 wage order because the Department had no authority to issue it. CP 167.

reason to believe this letter was anything other than what it purported to be: a request to have a low back condition included in Ahrens's injury claim.<sup>5</sup>

The Department received 109,363 new claims in 2015. *L&I Facts and Figures* (2015), <http://lni.wa.gov/news/files/LNIFactsAndFigures.pdf>. Each year it issues tens of thousands of orders and receives thousands of protests. In order to effectively administer the Industrial Insurance Act, it cannot inquire into the subjective intent of a party protesting an order. The Industrial Insurance Act mandates "sure and certain relief" for workers. RCW 51.04.010. If the process of administering claims was bogged down with inquiries of this sort, injured workers would suffer. Requiring parties to articulate disagreement with orders before the Department will revisit them allows for more efficient processing of protests and quicker Department determinations, benefiting all workers.

---


<sup>5</sup> Nor does any alleged "confusion" created by the Department in issuing four orders excuse the untimely filing of a protest to the wage order. Ahrens Br. at 5. The Department issued a total of four orders in July 2013 and did not issue another order on this claim until September 2013. CP 103-04. Ahrens cites no authority for the proposition that "confusion" should form the basis for relief and this Court should not consider it. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (courts do not consider arguments unsupported by authority). Ahrens may be making a backdoor attempt for the application of equity, but the "predicates for equitable tolling are bad faith, deception, or false assurances by the defendant and the exercise of diligence by the plaintiff," and neither element is present here. *Millay v. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998).

## VI. CONCLUSION

There was only one written communication from Ahrens to the Department after the July 5 wage order, within the 60 days allowed by law for a protest or appeal. That letter requested only that the Department take action by considering a low back strain to be related to the industrial injury. The letter did not reference the wage order nor request action inconsistent with that order. Since that letter was not a valid protest of the wage order, the trial court correctly concluded that the order was final and binding and that the Department was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.